Before the

Administrative Hearing Commission

State of Missouri

DIRECTOR OF DEPARTMENT
)

OF PUBLIC SAFETY,
)



)



Petitioner,
)




)


vs.

)

No. 05-1152 PO



)

ROBERT R. MAIZE,
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)
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)

DECISION


Robert R. Maize is subject to discipline because he committed the criminal offense of wire fraud.
Procedure


On July 21, 2005, the Director of the Department of Public Safety (“the Director”) filed a complaint seeking to discipline Maize.  Maize was served with a copy of the complaint and our notice of complaint/notice of hearing on August 4, 2005.  On December 19, 2005, we held a hearing.  Assistant Attorney General Theodore Bruce represented the Director.  Neither Maize nor anyone representing him appeared.  The matter became ready for our decision on January 13, 2006, the date the transcript was filed.

Findings of Fact

1. Maize is licensed as a peace officer.  The license is and was at all relevant times current and active.

2. Beginning in September 1998, Maize, a Kansas City, Missouri, police officer, through a company named Consulting Security Specialists, Inc., began providing security services for apartment complexes to American Development Corporation (“ADC”) and later its successor, National United Properties (“NUP”), through off-duty Kansas City, Missouri, police officers.
  One of the apartment complexes was the Bainbridge Apartments, 900 Armour Boulevard, Kansas City, Missouri.
3. An entity known as the Armour Boulevard Neighborhood Task Force, which included properties managed and operated by ADC and NUP, received a federal grant from the Department of Housing and Urban Development, including funds for contracted security services.
4. In January 2001, Maize began providing security services through a company named Armour Consulting Corporation.

5. Between September 1999 and December 2001, Maize knowingly caused NUP to be billed for approximately 743.5 hours of security services that were not actually worked by Kansas City, Missouri, police officers, resulting in an overpayment to Maize’s companies, Consulting Security Specialists, Inc., and Armour Consulting Corporation, of approximately $29,099.58.
6. One of the months in which an over-billing occurred was October 2001, when Maize submitted information to NUP resulting in a bill for $8,000 in security services.  Maize knew that a material portion of the bill was for security services that had not actually been performed.
7. After Maize submitted his bill for security services, on October 24, 2001, there was an interstate wire transfer of $8,000 in funds from the Department of Housing and Urban Development to an account in the name of Bainbridge Apartments at Bank of America, Kansas City, Missouri, to permit NUP to pay Armour Consulting Corporation, Inc., for security services.
8. On October 7, 2004, Maize pled guilty to wire fraud, a Class D felony, in the United States District Court for the Western District of Missouri.  
Conclusions of Law 


We have jurisdiction to hear the Director’s complaint.
  The Director has the burden of proving that Maize has committed an act for which the law allows discipline.
  The Director argues that there is cause for discipline under § 590.080, which states:

1.  The director shall have cause to discipline any peace officer licensee who:

*   *   *


(2) Has committed any criminal offense, whether or not a criminal charge has been filed;

*   *   *


(6) Has violated a provision of this chapter or a rule promulgated pursuant to this chapter.
Violation of Rule


The Director cites § 590.080.1(6), which authorizes discipline if Maize violated a rule promulgated pursuant to Chapter 590.  Section 590.080.1(6) does not, itself, authorize 

rulemaking.  It allows discipline for violation of a rule published under “this chapter.”  Rules must have statutory authority in order to be valid.
  “Only rules promulgated by an administrative agency with properly delegated authority have the force and effect of law.”
  Thus, § 590.080.1(6) allows discipline for violation of a rule only if the authority to promulgate that rule exists in Chapter 590. 


The Director’s plenary rulemaking power under § 590.123.1, RSMo 2000, “to effectuate the purposes of this chapter [590, RSMo]” was repealed effective August 28, 2001.
  Since August 28, 2001,
 the Director has had rulemaking power regarding the discipline of peace officer licenses only under § 590.030.5(1), which is specifically limited to continuing education.  Thus, as of August 28, 2001, § 590.080.1(6) allowed peace officer discipline for violation of regulations only if related to continuing education.


Eight months later, the Director filed a notice of rulemaking for his Regulation 11 CSR 75-13.090,
 which states:

(2) As used in section 590.080.1, RSMo:


(A) The phrase has “committed any criminal offense” includes a person who has pleaded guilty to, been found guilty of, or been convicted of any criminal offense.

*   *   *

(3) Pursuant to section 590.080.1(6), RSMo, the Director shall have cause to discipline any peace officer licensee who:

*   *   *


(C) Has pleaded guilty to, been found guilty of, or been convicted of a criminal offense, whether or not a sentence has been imposed.
Because that rule purports to discipline licensees for matters unrelated to continuing education, the rule is without statutory authority.


In Bridge Data Co. v. Director of Revenue, 794 S.W.2d 204 (Mo. banc 1990), the Missouri Supreme Court instructed that we must not apply an unauthorized regulation in a contested case because this Commission has “full authority” to resort to the statutes and reach a decision on the law as we find it.  Id at 207.  In Missouri Dep’t of Public Safety v. Dameron, 161 S.W.3d 411 (Mo. App., W.D. 2005), the court held that a guilty plea is proof that the licensee “committed any criminal offense” for purposes of § 590.080.1(2) because the Director construed it thusly in 11 CSR 75-13.090.  However, that case did not address § 590.080.1(6), and the court did not discuss whether there is statutory authority for Regulation 11 CSR 75-13.090.  We conclude that the Director had no authority to promulgate that regulation, so we cannot apply it in this case.


Therefore, we conclude that Maize is not subject to discipline under § 590.080.1(6) for violating Regulation 11 CSR 13-75.090(3)(C).
Criminal Offense

The Director’s evidence that Maize committed a criminal offense is a certified copy of the police reports and court records, which are admissible pursuant to § 536.070(10), RSMo 

2000, and § 490.130.
  In addition, where no objection is made, hearsay evidence can and must be considered in administrative hearings.
  We have made our findings of fact concerning Maize’s conduct based on his plea agreement in the criminal case.


The Director proved that Maize pled guilty to fraud by wire as set forth in 18 U.S.C. 
§ 1343:

Fraud by wire, radio, or television:

Whoever, having devised or intending to devise any scheme or artifice to defraud, or for obtaining money or property by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises, transmits or causes to be transmitted by means of wire, radio, or television communication in interstate or foreign commerce, any writings, signs, signals, pictures, or sounds for the purpose of executing such scheme or artifice, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than 20 years, or both.  If the violation affects a financial institution, such person shall be fined not more than $1,000,000 or imprisoned not more than 30 years, or both.

A guilty plea constitutes a declaration against interest, which the defendant may explain away.
  The evidence that Maize committed the crime is unrebutted.  We have found that Maize committed conduct in October 2001 that constitutes wire fraud – a criminal offense.  We find cause for discipline under § 590.080.1(2).

Summary


Maize is subject to discipline under § 590.080.1(2).  He is not subject to discipline under § 590.080.1(6).

SO ORDERED on February 17, 2006.



________________________________



JUNE STRIEGEL DOUGHTY



Commissioner

	�This is not proven by the affidavit.  We deem that Maize has admitted this fact set forth in the complaint for failing to file an answer, as required by Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.380(1).  Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.380(7)(C).


	�The record does not specify further the nature of the relationship between Maize and Consulting Security Specialists, Inc.


	�Again, the record does not reflect the nature of the relationship between Maize and this corporation.


	�Section 621.045.  Statutory references, unless otherwise noted, are to the 2005 Supplement to the Revised Statutes of Missouri.


	�Missouri Real Estate Comm’n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).


	�Section 536.014, RSMo 2000.  


	�United Pharmacal Co. of Mo. v. Missouri Bd. of Pharmacy, 159 S.W.3d 361, 365 (Mo. banc 2005) (quoting Psychare Mgmt. v. Dep’t of Soc. Servs., 980 S.W.2d 311, 313-14 (Mo. banc 1998)).  


	�Section A, H.B. 80, 92nd Gen. Assem., 1st Sess. (2001 Mo. Laws 299, 301); and Mo. Const. art. III, § 29.


	�2001 Mo. Laws at 301 and 316.


	�27 Mo. Reg. 11, 883-84 (June 3, 2002).


	�The Director also cites Regulation 11 CSR 75-13.090, which states:





(2) As used in section 590.080.1, RSMo:





(A) The phrase has “committed any criminal offense” includes a person who has pleaded guilty to, been found guilty of, or been convicted of any criminal offense.





Because we have other evidence that Maize committed the offense, we do not address whether this regulation can be used to prove cause for discipline under § 590.080.1(2).


	�Clark v. FAG Bearings Corp., 134 S.W.3d 730, 736 (Mo. App., S.D. 2004) (citing Dorman v. State Bd. of Regis’n for the Healing Arts, 62 S.W.3d 446 (Mo. App., W.D. 2001)).


	�Pt’r Ex. 1.


	�Nichols v. Blake, 418 S.W.2d 188, 190 (Mo. 1967).  
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